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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Good morning.  I'm Tad Decker.  I had to 2 

check that in my script to make sure I'm still Tad 3 

Decker.  Today we will be holding the Category 2 4 

license hearing for Tropicana and Crossroads.  In 5 

addition, we'll be concluding hearings for the IOC 6 

Pittsburgh and the Mount Airy Projects.  Before 7 

entering into these proceedings, I want to call, once 8 

again, everyone's attention to the code of conduct for 9 

this licensing hearing.  If you have not already 10 

picked up a copy, both are available on the table just 11 

inside the auditorium doors.  The rules in these 12 

documents will be strictly enforced.  As in all of 13 

these hearings, I request your assistance to ensure 14 

that courtesy prevails among the audience, presenters 15 

and speakers.   16 

  We also welcome members of the media to 17 

this hearing and ask that they observe the guidelines 18 

distributed when they came in.  In general, we ask 19 

that the media follow the same protocol that applies 20 

in any formal court proceeding.  In particular, we ask 21 

that reporters and photographers not interfere with 22 

the hearing in any way and that they conduct 23 

interviews with speakers outside the hearing room.  24 

Finally, I want to remind the media that the Board 25 
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will not be available for interviews during or after 1 

these meetings.  Thank you.   2 

  I want to call to order the meeting of 3 

the Pennsylvania Gaming Control Board in the matter of 4 

Category 2 hearing for Isle of Capri-Pittsburgh, Inc., 5 

referred to as IOC-Pittsburgh, Inc.  This is a 6 

reconvened hearing from November 20th, 2006.  And the 7 

purpose of this hearing is limited to taking further 8 

evidence from Pittsburgh Penguins' owner, Mr. 9 

Balsillie.  Mr. Balsillie, will you be --- thank you 10 

for coming back.  We appreciate it very much.  We 11 

understand you have a lot to do, so we appreciate it.  12 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 13 

  Very happy.   14 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 15 

  Will you please rise and be sworn in 16 

today? 17 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 18 

  Yes, sir.   19 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 20 

  Thank you.  21 

------------------------------------------------------ 22 

JIM BALSILLIE, HAVING FIRST BEEN DULY SWORN, TESTIFIED 23 

AS FOLLOWS: 24 

------------------------------------------------------ 25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Thank you.  Following your testimony on 2 

November 20th, during the IOC presentation, a number 3 

of Board members indicated that they would --- they 4 

had some questions concerning your testimony --- not 5 

concerning the testimony you gave, but some additional 6 

questions.  We then asked you to come back to testify. 7 

So we appreciate that.   8 

  I now open the hearing to the Board 9 

members who have any questions for this witness.  Yes, 10 

please.  Go ahead, Commissioner.   11 

  MS. COLINS: 12 

  Mr. Balsillie, thank you. 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  Balsillie. 15 

  MS. COLINS: 16 

  Balsillie.  17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  Are we pronouncing your name ---? 19 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 20 

  Balsillie (corrects pronunciation). 21 

  MS. COLINS: 22 

  Balsillie (confirms pronunciation). 23 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 24 

  Balsillie, sorry.  I apologize.   25 
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  MR. BALSILLIE: 1 

  My mom gets it right.   2 

  MS. COLINS: 3 

  I apologize as well.  I also thank you 4 

very much for making yourself available again. 5 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 6 

  I'd like to apologize for the confusion. 7 

  MS. COLINS: 8 

  For the confusion.  You’ve stolen my 9 

words.   10 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 11 

  I apologize for it. 12 

  MS. COLINS: 13 

  I'm glad you're here, because we can just 14 

clear up some issues, I think, with additional --- 15 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 16 

  Absolutely. 17 

  MS. COLINS: 18 

  --- questions and get your thoughts and 19 

insights on this very important issue --- 20 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 21 

  Absolutely.   22 

  MS. COLINS: 23 

  --- having to do with the intertwining of 24 

the Pittsburgh Penguins and the arena concept and the 25 
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Applicant.  1 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 2 

  Yes. 3 

  MS. COLINS: 4 

  My question goes to this point, should,  5 

--- for whatever reason, should it be that  6 

IOC-Pittsburgh, Inc. were not to get the gaming 7 

license, were not to get a license, what would be your 8 

position with respect to the Pittsburgh Penguins  9 

vis-à-vis remaining in Pittsburgh and taking advantage 10 

of the Plan B that has been discussed by our Governor 11 

and by the ranking political powers in Pittsburgh? 12 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 13 

  Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, 14 

Commissioners, for the opportunity to be here again.  15 

And again, I want to say on the record I completely 16 

apologize for the confusion. 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  We don't think that was your fault.  And 19 

that's --- we understand the issues of --- you don't 20 

have to apologize.  21 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 22 

  Thank you.  You know, we came into this 23 

situation because Isle of Capri put the proposal on 24 

the table of a facility for the team and really made 25 
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that part of public policy.  And so it became so 1 

compelling that there was a response with Plan B as a 2 

concept.  And so clearly, we have a contractual 3 

agreement with Isle of Capri, and we intend to stand 4 

behind it.  And it will transfer with this deal.   5 

  You know, Plan B has definitely been --- 6 

it's a concept that's been presented.  And clearly as 7 

a team, if Isle of Capri is not awarded the license, 8 

then we'll pursue Plan B as a concept with the --- 9 

with all the political decision makers.  So we will 10 

pursue it.  You know, there's been these kinds of 11 

discussions seven years ago.  I'm an optimist by 12 

nature and I'm committed by nature to try to make 13 

things work.  And so, you know, we'll be compelled to 14 

pursue that plan.  It's less favorable obviously than 15 

the certainty and the predictability and the lack of 16 

taxpayer funds that are in the Isle of Capri plan, 17 

which is what is manufactured out of the concept of a 18 

good plan.  But it's --- you know, it's so --- you 19 

know, it's a concept that I'll have to engage with 20 

eminently if Isle of Capri doesn't win, and we'll 21 

pursue it with full rigor and full integrity and full 22 

intent and hope that the concept can come to 23 

certainty.   24 

  And I wish I had more than that, but I 25 
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simply don't.  And I'm new to it.  And this is an 1 

inherently new response --- or new concept that was 2 

floated, I believe, late summer, prior to --- just 3 

prior to me coming into the team.  And our efforts 4 

have been focused on this and it was in response to 5 

the compelling nature of Isle of Capri's really policy 6 

formulation that they put in their plan.  And I'll 7 

engage with it fully if they're not successful.  And 8 

I'm hopeful and committed to try and work out of --- 9 

turn the concept into the same element of certainty 10 

that Isle of Capri currently is.   11 

  MS. COLINS: 12 

  Just as a quick follow-up, can we 13 

translate your answer or extract from your answer an 14 

intention on your part to keep that team in Pittsburgh 15 

even if the Isle of Capri doesn't receive the license? 16 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 17 

  The commitment is there on the 18 

presumption that you can come through with a viable 19 

Plan B agreement, yes.  And it requires, as you know, 20 

north of $200 million of taxpayer funds that Isle of 21 

Capri doesn't.  So they've committed, as an opening 22 

position, $200 million-plus of taxpayers' funds, you 23 

know, to the concept.  And you know, in my experience 24 

in business, there's a fair bit of difference between 25 
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a concept and a signed contract.  Though there 1 

certainly is a desire to turn it into a firm and clear 2 

and certain deal.   3 

  MS. COLINS: 4 

  Now, you are presently committed 5 

contractually to the Isle of Capri and that whole 6 

deal; correct? 7 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 8 

  Correct.  9 

  MS. COLINS: 10 

  And so you would not be allowed at this 11 

time, under the terms of that contract, to begin 12 

exploring other possibilities, would you?  13 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 14 

  Well, the contract between us and Isle of 15 

Capri is confidential, but I think it's fair to say 16 

that yeah, at this time, you know, part of the 17 

commitment to them was, you know, a full and focused 18 

hundred percent commitment not to be bargained off.   19 

  And again, I mean, as somebody who came 20 

into this, I wasn’t at the original genesis of the 21 

plan, I give them full credit for making it part of 22 

public policy to move beyond the sort of gaming 23 

facility to see how can you multiply public good.  And 24 

you know, I meant it very genuinely, these were my 25 
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words last time, they're all my words, I see a three 1 

for one here.  I see you get a sports and 2 

entertainment destination surfaced out of good 3 

economics, you get a neighborhood revitalization, and 4 

you get a gaming facility.  And in business 5 

vernacular, that's called synergy and strategy.  And I 6 

commend what it does for those constituencies that 7 

will benefit from it.  The Penguins are certainly one 8 

of the beneficiaries, but I think every stakeholder 9 

materially benefits from the plan. 10 

  MS. COLINS: 11 

  Thank you.  12 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 13 

  Mr. McCabe? 14 

  MR. MCCABE: 15 

  My understanding of the whole issue is 16 

about an arena.  Pittsburgh needs a new arena.  And 17 

correct me if I'm wrong, the statement is that the 18 

Penguins will stay as long as there's a new arena, and 19 

it doesn't matter if it's Plan B or if it's Isle of 20 

Capri.  Will you say that the Penguins will stay as 21 

long as you get a new arena in Pittsburgh? 22 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 23 

  If there's a new arena under economically 24 

viable frameworks, absolutely, yes.   25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Commissioner? 2 

  MR. MARSHALL: 3 

  I know we're beating this to death, but 4 

just ---.  5 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 6 

  It needs a lot of attention, because 7 

there's been a lot of misinformation.   8 

  MR. MARSHALL: 9 

  So is it fair to say that in the event 10 

that the Isle of Capri is awarded a license, you and 11 

the Penguins are obligated to stay about 20 years, and 12 

the arena gets built?  13 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 14 

  Correct. 15 

  MR. MARSHALL: 16 

  I understand that.   17 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 18 

  Everything, everything becomes certain. 19 

  MR. MARSHALL: 20 

  So Isle of Capri gets the license, that 21 

means Isle of Capri has to put up $290 million to 22 

build an arena, and if the arena gets built, you're 23 

obligated to stay? 24 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 25 
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  Correct. 1 

  MR. MARSHALL: 2 

  Is there any wiggle room in ---? 3 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 4 

  There's no wiggle room.  This gives 5 

ironclad certainty to everything.  That's the beauty 6 

of the plan and the policy integrated.  Yes, the team 7 

is there for sure, the arena is built for sure, we're 8 

there for sure, everything's for sure.  That is 9 

correct. 10 

  MR. MARSHALL: 11 

  And then, for purposes again, of the 12 

record, that same would not be true if either of the 13 

other two Applicants ---? 14 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 15 

  Absolutely, absolutely correct. 16 

  MR. MARSHALL: 17 

  Well intentioned and everything else, but 18 

you are not contractually obligated? 19 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 20 

  Those are --- not only are we not 21 

obligated, nothing has been presented beyond rather 22 

preliminary concepts. 23 

  MR. MARSHALL: 24 

  All right.  Switching a little bit now 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

 

14  14 

over to the NHL.  You purchased the team.  Has that 1 

been approved? 2 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 3 

  No.  I've met with the Board of Governors 4 

last week.  We're in final stages of closing the deal. 5 

The hope and expectation is it can be done this week. 6 

But it's imminent, and we expect it --- we're wanting 7 

to do it as soon as possible.   8 

  MR. MARSHALL: 9 

  I don't want to interfere with your --- 10 

with things of a confidential nature, but --- 11 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 12 

  That's all right.  13 

  MR. MARSHALL: 14 

  --- is there anything about your 15 

acquiring with respect to the NHL that should give us 16 

any concern, any pause? 17 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 18 

  Well, there's great harmony between us 19 

and the NHL on this issue.   20 

  MR. MARSHALL: 21 

  Meaning, ---? 22 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 23 

  Yeah, the facility.  You know, you take 24 

community relations and community commitment and fan 25 
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bases incredibly seriously.  That is the institution 1 

of the sport.  And so the uncertainty is an enormously 2 

troubling issue for both the league and for me.  And 3 

how you grapple with that has got everybody uneasy.  4 

And so we all sit there and say, you know, without 5 

telling too many tales out of school, you know, if 6 

Isle of Capri gets a slot license, everyone of these 7 

concerns becomes immediately moot.  8 

  MR. MARSHALL: 9 

  Are there any though concerns that you’ve 10 

picked up that this three-part partnership you're 11 

talking about that it involves gambling and a slot 12 

parlor, is that giving the League any concern? 13 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 14 

  Not even a whiff.  Not even a whiff.  Not 15 

a whiff of concern.  Never.  If there ever was a 16 

concern, it way predates me.  And it was put to bed a 17 

long time ago.  The Isle of Capri plan, when I met 18 

with the Executive Board of Governors last week, is 19 

considered ideal.  I mean, every one of the 20 

Commissioners is delighted with what it brings in 21 

every sense of interpretation from my point of view.   22 

  MR. MARSHALL: 23 

  Thank you.  24 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 25 
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  Just a follow up to that point.  You're 1 

aware that baseball and football, for example, we've 2 

lost the one Applicant who was one of the owners of 3 

the Pittsburgh Pirates, if I'm not --- if I'm correct, 4 

from the Category 3, because baseball would not allow 5 

him to touch, you know, gambling in any way.  And one 6 

of our friends over here to the right was an NFL ref 7 

who even as a regulator, was not permitted to have any 8 

association with the NFL as a referee or anything else 9 

after being involved in that.  But that's not true of 10 

the NHL; correct?  11 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 12 

  You know, there are a bunch of issues, or 13 

there's a bunch of requirements in terms of separate 14 

facility and no interest and no inter-relationship and 15 

all that.  Those have been 100 percent complied with. 16 

I can honestly, as absolutely, unequivocally say to 17 

you there hasn’t even been a half sentence of 18 

utterance to me on any concern on the compromised 19 

gaming element or Isle of Capri.  Believe me, I mean, 20 

I'm security cleared for life in the U.S., Canada and 21 

the U.K. for government stuff.  I've been more 22 

scrubbed on this NHL times ten.  So this element of 23 

gaming and all this kind of stuff, as a concern, 24 

hasn’t even registered a question, which means it's 25 
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not there.  The overwhelming issue is the urgency a 1 

decade ago of a new facility and the element of 2 

urgently tying that down in a certain way.  That's the 3 

only issue for the purposes that they're concerned 4 

about.   5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 6 

  How much will it cost to build a new 7 

arena? 8 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 9 

  That's not a hundred percent certain.  10 

Probably $300 million and change.  11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  If we had a commitment, I mean an  13 

in-writing commitment, pursuant to this Plan B 14 

business, which would require $7.5 million to be paid 15 

to the Sports Authority --- $7.5 billion paid into the 16 

Sports Authority for --- I think it's 30 years, as I 17 

understand it.  And that was a condition of the 18 

license, so you knew it was firm.  Wouldn’t that 19 

finance it, something more in the neighborhood of like 20 

$400 million?  I'm just trying to see what it's --- 21 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 22 

  No.  Because there's ---. 23 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 24 

  --- the present value of that versus 25 
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interest over a long period of time.  What am I 1 

missing? 2 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 3 

  The $7.5 million on a present value basis 4 

is probably the --- 5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 6 

  Monetize that amount. 7 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 8 

  --- half of the $300. 9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 10 

  Half of the $300? 11 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 12 

  Yeah. 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  $7.5 million?   15 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 16 

  $7 million times 30 is $210.  The present 17 

value ---. 18 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 19 

  What's the interest on $290 million?  I'm 20 

not trying to get into debate with you here, but what 21 

is the interest on $290 million at 10, 12 percent? 22 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 23 

  Yeah, but you’ve got a principle 24 

repayment aspect of it.  You’ve got the entire 25 
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principle.  The bottom line is, as a math guy, --- 1 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 2 

  Yeah. 3 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 4 

  --- the present value of $7 and a half 5 

million over --- 6 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 7 

  Thirty (30) years. 8 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 9 

  --- 20 years or 30 years ---. 10 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 11 

  At some sort of discount though, 10 12 

percent. 13 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 14 

  Not even 10 percent, --- 15 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 16 

  Five? 17 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 18 

  --- 5 or 6, it's about $150 million.  It 19 

gets you halfway there.  20 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 21 

  Okay.  22 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 23 

  There's also, you know, transfer of 24 

naming rights issue.  There's parking payments.  25 
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There's ---. 1 

  UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: 2 

  Plus interest to be paid. 3 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 4 

  Yeah, I know.  We've got the applied 5 

interest.  And so it gets you almost half of the way 6 

there.  7 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 8 

  Okay.  9 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 10 

  And very importantly, it’s using 11 

taxpayers' money.   12 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 13 

  Not the $7 and a half? 14 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 15 

  Oh, yeah. 16 

  UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: 17 

  No. 18 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 19 

  I don't understand how it could possibly 20 

be using taxpayer money without giving them a rebate 21 

of 53 percent? 22 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 23 

  No, no, it's ---. 24 

  UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: 25 
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  The other two competitors? 1 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 2 

  Yeah. 3 

  UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: 4 

  The rest of the money. 5 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 6 

  Oh, the rest of the money?  Yeah, you 7 

have to come up with that.   8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  You have to come up with the rest.  Okay. 10 

We understand.   11 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 12 

  Yeah.  And obviously, I mean, it has to 13 

be economically viable.  I mean, as I said last time, 14 

we all know hockey is the greatest game in the world. 15 

Football is pretty good, too, but it's a team that's 16 

been bankrupt twice.   17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  We understand. 19 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 20 

  And it's a storied team.  And you know, 21 

obviously you want it to be viable.  And not --- this 22 

is not the pursuit of some great profit-making dream. 23 

And so it's an overwhelming element of concern in the 24 

economics of the team and the situation.  And that's 25 
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what's so beautiful about Isle of Capri.  It 1 

completely puts the issue to bed.  And quite frankly, 2 

getting halfway there and delaying the time and 3 

throwing uncertainties and what kind of funds you get 4 

it from and who approves it and you know, who manages 5 

cost overruns and all that, those are --- and parking 6 

and naming issues and so on, there's a broad array of 7 

things that, you know, need to be urgently attended 8 

to.   9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 10 

  Right.  Understood.  Understood.  Any 11 

other questions?  Well, thank you very much for coming 12 

in.  This helps great deal. 13 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 14 

  Thank you very much.   15 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 16 

  Okay.  All right.   17 

  ATTORNEY STEWART: 18 

  Mr. Chairman? 19 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 20 

  Yes?  Please? 21 

  ATTORNEY STEWART: 22 

  Before the record closes, we had two 23 

exhibits to move, Exhibit 16, which is a letter from 24 

Mr. Balsillie, quoting an excerpt from the purchase 25 
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agreement regarding the assumption and a submission of 1 

information as Exhibit 17 to the Bureau of Corporate 2 

Compliance.  We also understand through --- well, let 3 

me just move, if I may, move those two exhibits.   4 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 5 

  Is there one other thing I can just add 6 

real quick? 7 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 8 

  Oh, please.  You're here, please.   9 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 10 

  The other thing is that we've joined with 11 

Isle of Capri on the Hill Service --- Hill 12 

Entertainment Services District.  And that's really to 13 

--- with a number of community supporters here, to 14 

make sure that --- this is something they did in 15 

Philadelphia, which we're modeling after that, to make 16 

sure that all the community issues in terms of 17 

enhancing the community and supporting the community 18 

are met.  And as well, any potential concerns they 19 

have in terms of traffic and garbage and nuisance 20 

crimes are funded.  So there's some funding 21 

arrangements that we're doing on that.  22 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 23 

  Good. 24 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 25 
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  And so we want to be good neighbors.  And 1 

this promise of a neighborhood regeneration is not 2 

just a concept, it's --- it has to be fulfilled.  3 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 4 

  Thank you.  You have an exhibit?  And you 5 

described it, I think, as the ---. 6 

  ATTORNEY STEWART: 7 

  Exhibit 16 and Exhibit 17 are the two 8 

exhibits we would move. 9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 10 

  What are the exhibits about?  Just again 11 

for the record.   12 

  ATTORNEY STEWART: 13 

  Sixteen (16) is a letter from Mr. 14 

Balsillie, which excerpted portions of the assignment 15 

and assumption portion of the purchase agreement in 16 

regards to the Joint Development Agreement and the  17 

20-year commitment.  Commissioner Marshall had 18 

requested some documentation on that last time.  And 19 

Exhibit 17 is a submission that was made with the 20 

Bureau of Corporate Compliance.   21 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 22 

  Okay.  Any objections? 23 

  ATTORNEY DONAGHUE: 24 

  No objection.  25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Okay.   2 

  UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER: 3 

  Acceptance.  4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 5 

  A second, please? 6 

  MR. MARSHALL: 7 

  Second. 8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  All those in favor? 10 

ALL SAY AYE 11 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 12 

  Any against?  The motion carries.  Thank 13 

you.  Those are admitted to exhibit with the usual 14 

caveat about confidentiality to the extent there's 15 

something there that's confidential.  Is there 16 

anything else? 17 

  ATTORNEY STEWART: 18 

  The only other thing is we understand 19 

that there will be an addendum to the drive time 20 

analysis, and we would ask that when the record is 21 

closed for this proceeding, that it be done subject to 22 

the Board's receipt of the directly from the Bureau of 23 

Corporate Compliance. 24 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 25 
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  This is a drive time analysis submitted 1 

by you or by us? 2 

  ATTORNEY STEWART: 3 

  By you.  4 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 5 

  By us? 6 

  ATTORNEY STEWART: 7 

  Yes. 8 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 9 

  Based on what? 10 

  MS. FRUSHONE MISKIN: 11 

  Based on some additional information that 12 

was received.   13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  From? 15 

  MS. FRUSHONE MISKIN: 16 

  From the Applicant. 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  So it's a new drive time analysis based 19 

on ---.  And we're going to disperse that around, 20 

right? 21 

  MS. FRUSHONE MISKIN: 22 

  Yes, we will. 23 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 24 

  Whoever needs to get it will get a copy 25 
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of that? 1 

  MS. FRUSHONE MISKIN: 2 

  Absolutely. 3 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 4 

  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Are there 5 

any objection to that from --- do I need a motion 6 

admitting that?  7 

  UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER: 8 

  Move acceptance. 9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 10 

  Second, please? 11 

  MR. MARSHALL: 12 

  Yes. 13 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 14 

  Any questions or comments?  Thank you. 15 

All those in favor? 16 

ALL SAY AYE 17 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 18 

  Any opposed?  The motion carries.  Thank 19 

you.  That will be admitted to exhibit as well.  20 

Again, thank you very much for coming today --- coming 21 

back.  We know you traveled a great distance to do 22 

this.  We appreciate it. 23 

  MR. BALSILLIE: 24 

  Do it anytime.  Thank you. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 1 

  Okay.  With that, I guess I need a motion 2 

to adjourn and close the record.   3 

  UNIDENTIFIED MEMBER: 4 

  So moved. 5 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 6 

  Second from someone?  We have a second.  7 

Thank you.  All those in favor? 8 

ALL SAY AYE 9 

  CHAIRMAN DECKER: 10 

  Any opposed?  The motion carries --- 11 

excuse me, the record is closed, and this hearing is 12 

adjourned.   13 

* * * * * * * * * 14 

HEARING COMMENCED AT 9:48 A.M. 15 

* * * * * * * * * 16 
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